# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

SUPREME COURT CASE NO. SC04-1433

Complainant,

THE FLORIDA BAR FILE NO. 2002-51,779(15E)

v.

DANIEL EVERETT ABRAMS,

Respondent.

## **INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, DANIEL EVERETT ABRAMS**

HOWARD W. POZNANSKI, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No.: 0814946 Attorney for Respondent 33 S.E. 4<sup>th</sup> Street Suite 102 Boca Raton, Florida 33324 Tel: (561) 417-9294 Fax: (561) 417-9422

#

# JURISDICTION

This Honorable Court has jurisdiction over this Petition for Review pursuant to Rules 3-1.2; 3-3.1; and 3-7.7, R. Regulating Fla. Bar.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In November of 1999, Mr. Abdullah Ziya and Ms. Olga Ulershperger, husband and wife and non-U.S. citizens, left Turkey and entered the United States of America with tourist visas (T. 18-19;61- 62). Thereafter, in the spring of 2000, Mr. Ziya and Ms. Ulershperger sought lawful immigration status to remain in the United States of America and consulted with, and ultimately retained, an entity known as U.S. Entry, Inc. to which Daniel Everett Abrams, hereinafter referred to as "Abrams", was then associated (T.63).

Abrams, a married man with a fourteen month old son at the time of the December 13, 2004 disciplinary trial (T. 128), graduated from Hofstra University School of Law in 1988 and was admitted to the New Jersey Bar that same year (T. 126). In 1991, Abrams was admitted to the New York and District of Columbia Bars and, thereafter, in 1997, admitted to The Florida Bar (T. 126-127). Abrams commenced practicing law in Florida in 1997 by committing to public service by accepting court appointments, which was the same way he commenced the practice of law when he first became an attorney in New Jersey in 1988 (T. 127-128).

US Entry, Inc., Ms. Suzanne Akbas its paralegal and principal, sought lawful status for Mr. Ziya and Ms. Ulershperger by way of O and H based employment visas (T. 81-83; 102; 104-105; 122-123; 139-141); the issue of asylum and persecution never arising (T. 121). It should be noted, however, that Mr. Ziya and Ms. Ulershperger were aware that Ms. Akbas was not an attorney and, moreover, did not even know an attorney, in this case Abrams, was even involved in their matter (T. 66; 72). After there was an issue with their employment based visas, including Ms. Ulershperger's failure to respond to a request for further information from the U.S. Immigration and Naturalization Service (T. 105), Mr. and Mrs. Ziya terminated their relationship with US Entry, Inc. in April of 2002 and sought legal counsel from a Mr. Capeci; the issue of asylum thereafter arising for the first time

(T. 35-37). Without an employment based visa available to Mr. Ziya and Ms. Ulershperger, both having university degrees (T. 35), and inasmuch as the deadline for an asylum claim expiring, to overcome the hurdle of an expired deadline and obtain an extension of time to proceed with an asylum claim, incapacity or ineffective assistance of counsel was required to be pursued which, as a condition precedent, required the filing of a Bar complaint against Abrams (T. 148-149).

In mid 2002, a Florida Bar complaint, The Florida Bar File No. 2002-51,779 (15E), was filed against the Respondent, Abrams, arising from his association with U.S. Entry, Inc. and alleged conduct relating to Mr. Ziya and Ms. Ulershperger. On February 26, 2003, the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "E" met, and by a majority vote of the eligible members present, found probable cause that Abrams violated Rules 3-4.2; 4-1.1, 4-5.3(a), (b), and (c); 4-5.4(d); 4-5.5(b); and 4-8.4(c), R. Regulating Fla. Bar. On February 27, 2003, The Florida Bar served its notice of finding of probable cause for further disciplinary proceedings and record of investigation, which also directed The Florida Bar to draft and file a formal complaint against Abrams pursuant to Rule 3-7.4(l), R. Regulating Fla. Bar (A. 1). On or about July 19, 2004, The Florida Bar filed its formal complaint against Abrams commencing this cause (A. 2).

The formal complaint filed in this cause contained two counts. Count I alleged that Abrams violated Rules 4-5.4(a); 4-5.4(d); Rule 4-5.5(b), and Rule 4-8.4(c), R. Regulating Fla. Bar (A. 2). Count II alleged that Abrams violated Rules 4-1.1; Rule 4-5.3(a); Rule 4-5.3(b); and Rule 4-5.3(c), R. Regulating Fla. Bar (A. 2).

After the formal complaint was filed by The Florida Bar, pursuant to administrative order 04-12.113-8/04 entered on August 16, 2004 by The Honorable Edward H. Fine, Chief Judge of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit in and for Palm Beach County, Florida, the Honorable Richard I. Wennet, Palm Beach County

Circuit Judge, was appointed referee in connection with the matter (A. 3). Thereafter, on December 13, 2004 trial occurred resulting in a Report of the Referee being entered on January 5, 2005 (A. 4). 4

The Report of the Referee made several findings, recommendations as to guilt, and imposed sanctions upon Abrams (A. 4, T. 204-221). In connection with those issues solely associated with Abrams' petition for review, the Referee made the following findings:

Allowing Miss - - Ms. Akbas to appear to - - to represent or to be a - - to have the benefit of Mr. Abrams as a managing lawyer is - -is, uh, conduct involving dishonesty and misrepresentation (T. 212).

\*\*\*\*\*

Mr. Abrams negligence, and - - and gross negligence in this regard, uh, regarding his representation or lack of representation of this couple is really clear when one reads the deposition of - - Miss Brasil who is a - - who restricts her work solely to - - to immigration matters (T. 214).

Upon completing his findings, the Referee recommended that Abrams be found guilty of violating all of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar that were set forth in The Florida Bar's formal complaint (A. 2; A. 4), inclusive of Rules 4-8.4( c) and 4-1.1, R. Regulating Fla. Bar, that are the subject of this petition for review, and imposed a rehabilitative suspension from the practice of law for one (1) year upon Abrams which is also a subject of this petition for review. Although the Referee noted as a mitigating factor, pursuant to 9.32(a), Fla. Stds. Imposing Law. Sancs., that Abrams had no prior history of discipline, the Referee overlooked that Abrams was apologetic and that he never intended anyone to get hurt; that he did the best he could; and that he did not become an attorney to hurt people (T. 203). The Referee focused primarily on his perceived findings of dishonest or selfish motive pursuant to 9.22(b); pattern of misconduct pursuant to 9.22(c); vulnerability of

victim pursuant to 9.22(h); and Abrams' substantial experience in the practice of law pursuant to 9.22(i), Fla. Stds. Imposing Law. Sancs., to arrive at a one year rehabilitative suspension. After imposing his sanction, the Referee thereafter taxed costs against Abrams in the sum of \$1,663.70 (T. 220), despite the written Report of the Referee requiring Abrams to pay costs in the amount of \$2,618.10 (A. 4), and also required Abrams to pay \$2,400.00 in restitution to Mr. Ziya and Ms. Ulershperger (A. 4; T. 220). 5

In response to the Report of the Referee that was entered on January 5, 2005, Abrams served a motion for rehearing on January 11, 2005 (A. 5). The motion for rehearing was outright denied on January 24, 2005 (A. 6). Accordingly, on March 2, 2005, Abrams served his petition for review requesting that this Honorable Court review certain findings, determinations, and disciplinary measures imposed by the Referee, the Honorable Richard I. Wennet (A. 7).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Abrams challenges those specific findings of fact necessary to arrive at a determination of guilt regarding Rules 4-8.4( c) and 4-1.1, R. Regulating Fla. Bar. The record evidence relied upon by the Referee fails to satisfy the legal burden necessary to sustain such findings and conclusions.

The only finding made by the Referee in connection with Rule 4-8.4( c), R. Regulating Fla. Bar, that Abrams engaged in some form of fraud, dishonesty, and misrepresentation is:

Allowing Miss - - Ms. Akbas to appear to - - to represent or to be a - - to have the benefit of Mr. Abrams as a managing lawyer is - -is, uh, conduct involving dishonesty and misrepresentation (T. 212).

This finding by the Referee, however, is legally insufficient to support an adjudication that Abrams violated Rule 4-8.4( c), R. Regulating Fla. Bar, and there is nothing further in the record to support such a determination.

The finding by the Referee that Abrams violated Rule 4-1.1, R. Regulating Fla. Bar, is equally legally insufficient to support an adjudication that Abrams violated same. The Referee makes no findings, but concludes that Abrams acted with gross negligence, ergo incompetently, based upon the testimony of Elisa Brasil, a California attorney who restricts her work solely to immigration matters (T. 214). Ms. Brasil's testimony relied upon by the Referee, however, reflects nothing more than an opinion that all requests for relief should be pursued and whichever proves itself by the facts over time should be the one ultimately pursued (T. 214-215). Pursuant to 4-3.1, R. Regulating Fla. Bar, only claims with merit should be pursued and at the time Mr. Ziya and Ms. Ulershperger retained U.S. Entry, Inc. there was never any claim for asylum presented nor any existing (T. 120-121).

The recommended disciplinary sanction against Abrams of rehabilitative suspension from the practice of law for one (1) year is also completely devoid of any legal or factual support. The legal precedent, even taking into account the mitigating and aggravating factors set forth in the Florida Standards For Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, evidence a disciplinary sanction of ten (10) days to ninety (90) days, however, not exceeding ninety (90) days.

7

Lastly, the taxation of costs imposed against Abrams in the Report of the Referee (A. 4) does not compute with the amount ordered at the disciplinary trial on December 13, 2004 (T. 220); the additional costs imposed in the Report of the Referee violating Abrams' right to due process of law inasmuch as notice was never provided on the issue, nor hearing had. Abrams' right to due process of law was also violated in connection with the \$2,400.00 restitution amount imposed against him (T. 220) inasmuch as notice was never provided, nor hearing had on the issue.

#### ARGUMENT

I WHETHER THE FINDING OF THE REFEREE THAT RESPONDENT, ABRAMS, ENGAGED IN CONDUCT CONSTITUTING DISHONESTY, FRAUD, DECEIT, OR MISREPRESENTATION IS SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD EVIDENCE TO UPHOLD AN ADJUDICATION OF GUILT OF VIOLATING RULE 4-8.4( C), R. REGULATING FLA. BAR.

To succeed in challenging a Referee's finding of fact and recommendation of guilt, the findings must lack evidentiary support or, alternatively, be clearly erroneous. <u>See</u>, <u>The Florida Bar v. Beach</u>, 675 So.2d 106 (Fla. 1996); <u>The <u>Florida Bar v. Scott</u>, 566 So.2d 765 (Fla. 1990). Moreover, as set forth in <u>Beach</u>, <u>supra</u>, relying upon <u>The Florida Bar In re Inglis</u>, 471 So.2d 38, 41 (Fla. 1985), "A referee's legal conclusions are subject to a broader review by this Court than are findings of fact."</u>

The legal conclusion of the Referee herein is that Abrams is guilty of violating Rule 4-8.4 (c), R. Regulating Fla. Bar. Rule 4-8.4 (c), R. Regulating Fla. Bar states "A lawyer shall not... engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation." And the only facts relied upon the by the Referee to support such a conclusion, as reflected in the ruling of the Referee, is:

Allowing Miss - - Ms. Akbas to appear to - - to represent or to be a - - to have the benefit of Mr. Abrams as a managing lawyer is - -is, uh, conduct involving dishonesty and misrepresentation (T. 212).

The aforesaid finding is the only evidence relied upon by the Referee to support his conclusion that Abrams violated Rule 4-8.4( c), R. Regulating Fla. Bar. The aforesaid finding, however, is insufficient to uphold an adjudication of guilt that Abrams engaged in conduct involving fraud, dishonesty, deceit or misrepresentation.

As argued by Abrams in his motion for rehearing (A. 5), fraud, dishonesty, deceit, or misrepresentation all require an element of "intent." This Court defined the elements of fraud in Lance v. Wade, 457 So.2d 1008 (Fla. 1984) and it is clear that "intent" is required. Nothing in the Referee's Report establishes "intent" on the part of Respondent. In <u>The Florida Bar v. Cueto</u>, 834 So.2d 152 (Fla. 2002), this Court stated:

Rule 4-8.4( c) states that a lawyer shall not "engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation." Although the rules do not define these four words, *Black's Law Dictionary* notes that "misrepresentation" includes "[c]oncealment or even non-disclosure." *Black's Law Dictionary* 1016 (7th ed.1999) (quoting Restatement (Second) of Contracts section 159 cmt. a (1981)). For the term "dishonest act," *Black's* refers to "fraudulent act," which is defined as "[c]onduct involving ... dishonesty, a lack of integrity, or moral turpitude." *Id.* at 672. Further, "moral turpitude" is defined as "[c]onduct that is contrary to justice, honesty, or morality," and "[i]n the area of legal ethics, offenses involving moral turpitude ... traditionally make a person unfit to practice law." *Id.* at 1026.

Abrams association with US Entry, Inc. appears to have resulted from his own misunderstanding of his inquiry with The Florida Bar prior to associating with US Entry, Inc. (T. 131-132). Abrams did make an effort to discuss his association with U.S. Entry, Inc. with The Florida Bar before executing on his decision to do so (T. 131-132); his understanding of the inquiry obviously incorrect. Because of his misunderstanding, Abrams accepts responsibility for his conduct in violating Rules 4-5.3; 4-5.4; and 4-5.5; R. Regulating Fla. Bar, and acknowledges same, however, his error is not tantamount to dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation.

The record supports, and Abrams does not dispute it, that he associated with U.S. Entry, Inc. (T. 87-88; 130-132), that his name appeared as Managing Attorney

on the letterhead of U.S. Entry, Inc. (T. 155-156), that he shared fees with US Entry, Inc. of no more than \$5,000.00 or \$6,000.00 (T. 107; 136-137) over an approximate two and one half year period of time (T. 87; 155), and that his New York law license was on the wall at the office of U.S. Entry, Inc. (T. 91), however, these facts by themselves or together fail to support any conclusion that Abrams engaged in dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation. In fact, Mr. Ziya and Ms. Ulershperger knew Ms. Akbas of US Entry, Inc., the paralegal with whom they dealt, was not an attorney and, moreover, did not even know an attorney, in this case Abrams, was even involved in their matter (T. 66; 72).

Despite Mr. Ziya testifying that "We didn't know she is lawyer (referring to Suzanne Akbas of US Entry, Inc.) or she is something else... We don't have any information about her" (T. 44), his wife, Ms. Ulershperger, was quite clear that she and her husband were well aware that Ms. Akbas was not an attorney and testified,

Oh, well, the friend of ours, when he saw her card, he told us that she not lawyer. But since she agreed to help us, we didn't have any suspects - - just we trusted her, that she's -- we hoped that she's gonna help us." (T. 66).

Question: How did that make you feel when you found out that there was an attorney who was working with her?

Well, really we didn't know anything about that. I mean, since she was taking care of our case, of our papers, she was meeting with us, we just - - we just didn't know that supposed to be some attorney was gonna' take care of us. (T. 72).

Mr. Ziya and Ms. Ulershperger were both well aware that Ms. Akbas was not an attorney and, moreover, did not even know an attorney, in this case Abrams, was even involved in their matter (T. 66; 72). Inasmuch as Mr. Ziya and Ms. Ulershperger were aware that Ms. Akbas was not an attorney and did not even

believe an attorney was involved in the handling of their matter, there can be no issue of any deception, dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation by Abrams.

And again, Abrams did inquire with The Florida Bar about whether his relationship with US Entry, Inc. was permissible (T. 88-89; 131-132) and, based upon the information received, believed his conduct was appropriate (T. 132). Whether he was directed to someone in the wrong department of The Florida Bar (T. 131), which likely caused Abrams to err, does not change the fact that Abrams did make inquiry. As testified to by Abrams,

It was my intention to speak to somebody from The Florida Bar who could answer my question. I had other questions and [sic] transferred me to other departments in reference to advertising I was putting into the yellow pages. So I was always... very careful whatever I did, advertising, whatever the situation I was going to enter into to avoid what we're here for today." (T. 132).

The conduct of Abrams, who commenced his law practice in Florida by committing to public service by accepting court appointments (T. 127-128), was without malice or intent and resulted from his own misunderstanding. But again, it cannot be overlooked that Mr. Ziya and Ms. Ulershperger were well aware that in working with Ms. Akbas of US Entry, Inc. that Ms. Akbas was not an attorney and, moreover, did not even know an attorney was involved in their matter (T. 66; 72).

Based upon the principles of law set forth in forth in Lance v. Wade, supra, and <u>The Florida Bar v. Cueto</u>, supra, Abrams failed to act with any intent nor did he engage in concealment / non-disclosure, act with a lack of integrity or moral turpitude, or involve himself in any act of moral turpitude making him unfit to practice law. Imprudence and error is not tantamount to dishonesty, fraud deceit, or misrepresentation, especially in this circumstance where Mr. Ziya and Ms. Ulershperger were aware that Ms. Akbas, the paralegal for US Entry, Inc., was not

an attorney and did not even believe an attorney was involved in their matter (T. 66; 72) notwithstanding that Abram's New York law license hung on the wall of US Entry, Inc. and he appeared as managing attorney on its letterhead (T. 88-89; 91; 155). There is certainly no issue of any deception, dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation herein by Abrams.

For cases involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation, the following legal authority should be evaluated: In The Florida Bar v. Rotstein, 835 So.2d 241 (Fla. 2003), Rotstein not only backdated a letter to his client to hide a mistake, he repeatedly made misrepresentations to The Florida Bar and submitted four false documents to the grievance committee and The Florida Bar. In The Florida Bar v. Miller, 863 So.2d 231 (Fla. 2003), Miller concealed critical evidence, advanced spurious arguments, and submitted misleading affidavits and testimony in a federal proceeding. In The Florida Bar v. Kravitz, 694 So.2d 725 (Fla. 1997), Kravitz made intentional misleading representations and false misrepresentations. In The Florida Bar v. McLawhorn, 535 So.2d 602, (Fla. 1988), McLawhorn made false statements in a traverse. In The Florida Bar v. Sax 520 So.2d 269 (Fla. 1988), Sax submitted a notarized pleading to a court when "he knew or should have known" that it contained false information and, moreover, signed the document outside the presence of the notary. In The Florida Bar v. Wright, 520 So.2d 269 (Fla. 1988), Wright intentionally failed to disclose real property contracts in which he had an interest in connection with a discovery request. For other cases, See Also, The Florida Bar v. Haglund, 372 So.2d 76 (Fla. 1979); The Florida Bar v. Pearce, 356 So.2d 359 (Fla. 1976); The Florida Bar v. Brooks, 336 So.2d 359 (Fla. 1976).

Although the aforementioned legal authority fails to mirror the facts and circumstances of Abrams' conduct, the point is nevertheless self-evident. Nothing in the Referee's Report sub judice, nor the record, supports the finding that Abrams

is guilty of violating Rule 4-8.4( c), R. Regulating Fla. Bar. The case most mirroring the facts sub judice is <u>The Florida Bar v. Beach</u>, 675 So.2d 106 (Fla. 1996) and in that case absent therefrom is any allegation based upon Rule 4-8.4( c), R. Regulating Fla. Bar.

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