#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,	Supreme Court Case No. SC04-1433				
Complainant,					
v.	The Florida Bar File				
	No. 2002-51,779(15E)				
DANIEL EVERETT ABRAMS,					
Respondent.					

#### THE FLORIDA BAR'S ANSWER BRIEF

LILLIAN ARCHBOLD, #163996 Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 5900 N. Andrews Avenue, Suite 900 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33309 (954) 772-2245

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS, #253847 Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 651 E. Jefferson Street Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR., #123390 Executive Director The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

#

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT10
I. THE REFEREE DID NOT ERR IN FINDING RESPONDENT GUILTY OF VIOLATING R. REGULATING FLA. BAR 4-8.4(C) AND R. REGULATING FLA. BAR 4-1.1
III. THE REFEREE DID NOT ERR IN THE COSTS HE ASSESSED AGAINST RESPONDENT OR IN ORDERING RESTITUTION21
CONCLUSION23
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE24
CERTIFICATE OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE AND ANTI-VIRUS SCAN 24

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

Cases
The Florida Bar v. Beach, 675 So.2d 106 (Fla. 1996) 13, 14, 15, 17, 18, 19, 20
<u>The Florida Bar v. Carr, 574 So.2d 59 (Fla. 1990)</u>
<u>The Florida Bar v. de la Puente</u> , 658 So.2d 65, 68 (Fla. 1995)11
<u>The Florida Bar v. Fredericks</u> , 731 So.2d 1249, 1251 (Fla. 1999)
<u>The Florida Bar v. Grief, 701 So.2d 555 (Fla. 1997)</u>
The Florida Bar v. Lawless, 640 So.2d 1098 (Fla. 1994)
<u>The Florida Bar v. Lecznar</u> , 690 So.2d 1284 (Fla. 1997)
The Florida Bar v. Miele, 605 So.2d 866, 868 (Fla. 1992)
The Florida Bar v. Pahules, 233 So.2d 130 (Fla. 1970)
The Florida Bar v. Schultz, 712 So.2d 386, 388 (Fla. 1998)
<u>The Florida Bar v. Spann</u> , 682 So.2d 1070, 1073 (Fla. 1996)
The Florida Bar v. Sweeney, 730 So.2d 1269 (Fla. 1998)
<u>The Florida Bar v. Wilson</u> , 643 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 1994)
<u>1110 1 1011dd 2dd 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 1</u>
Rules Regulating The Florida Bar
4-1.1
4-5.3(b)5
4-8.4(c)
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
Florida Standards For Imposing Lawyer Sanctions
Standard 4.5
Standard 4.52

 Standard 4.6.
 22

 Standard 4.62
 23

 Standard 7.0
 21

 Standard 7.2
 21

## **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

Throughout this Answer Brief, The Florida Bar will refer to specific parts of the record as follows: The Report of Referee will be designated as RR \_\_\_\_ (indicating the referenced page number). The transcript of the Final Hearing held on December 13, 2005, will be designated as TT \_\_\_\_, (indicating the referenced page number). The Florida Bar will be referred to as "The Bar." Daniel Everett Abrams will be referred to as "Respondent."

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Referee in this case heard testimony, reviewed case law, and considered the arguments of counsel (RR 2). The Florida Bar filed a 2 count complaint against Respondent (RR 2). Count I of the complaint involved the relationship between a nonlawyer, Suzanne Akbas, of U.S. Entry, Inc. ("U.S. Entry, Inc."), and Respondent (RR 2). Count II of the Bar's complaint involved Respondent's negligence and the injury caused by his negligence (RR 2).

The Referee found overwhelming and compelling evidence that Respondent, a member of The Florida Bar since 1997, albeit a member of the New Jersey Bar since 1988, practiced in Palm Beach County and formed an association with Ms. Akbas, a paralegal (RR 2). Ms. Akbas formed U.S. Entry, Inc., to provide legal services to people with immigration problems who wanted to enter the United States (RR 2). Respondent was the Managing Attorney of U.S. Entry, Inc. (RR 3), but he only visited the office once or twice a month (TT 90). The agreement between the parties was for piecemeal legal work (RR 3). Ms. Akbas filed numerous immigration documents using Respondent as counsel of record and she would pay him a fee of \$100 (RR 3).

In the Spring of 2000, a husband and wife, Abdullah Ziya and Olga Ulershperger, sought Ms. Abkas' assistance in obtaining lawful status (RR 3). Mr. Ziya and Ms. Ulershperger entered the United States in November 1999 with tourist visas and both desired to remain in the United States (RR 3). Both Mr. Ziya and Ms. Ulershperger informed Ms. Akbas that Ms. Ulershperger was a gymnast, she worked for a gymnastics

studio, and that they were both educated (RR 3).

Mr. Ziya told Ms. Akbas that he was a Turkish Kurd who personally suffered substantial persecution (RR 3). When Mr. Ziya later petitioned and was granted asylum, he proved he was tortured, beaten, and suffered greatly at the hands of the Turkish authorities (RR 3). The Referee reviewed Mr. Ziya's asylum petition which states in part:

"My family members and I were persecuted in Turkey because we are Kurdish. My family and I lived in Batman, Turkey. My father eventually moved to Istanbul to work in construction. It was the only way he could provide for us, his family. While my father was in Istanbul, Turkish policemen came into our house in Batman, Turkey. They searched our house without permission and arrested me and interrogated my mother. The Turkish police took me and my mother to jail. We spent one night in jail. I was interrogated by the Turkish police regarding my father and my uncles. Whenever I did not know the answer to one of their questions, the Turkish police beat me. While in jail, I learned that my father had been arrested in Istanbul. One week after this incident, my father returned to Batman. He had been beaten by the Turkish police so badly that we did not even recognize him. He was arrested for just being Kurdish. In March of 1988, over ten Turkish policemen raided our house in Batman. They searched our house, but did not find anything illegal in our house. The Turkish policemen arrested me and my father. The Turkish policemen blindfolded us and transported us somewhere where they kept us for days. When I arrived at this place, the Turkish police made me undress and I spent the night completely naked. The Turkish police tried to trick me into giving them the names of my father's closest friends. When I would not name my father's closest friends, they beat me. The Turkish police imprisoned and tortured me for six days. When the Turkish police were done with me, they blindfolded me and took me home. Later that same day, the Turkish police brought my father back home. He was also blindfolded for the trip home. Neither my father nor I could walk for weeks afterwards (RR 3-4).

Ms. Akbas became aware of some of this information (RR 4). In her opinion, a claim for asylum was not appropriate (RR 4). Instead, Mr. Ziya would obtain derivative

status through his wife's gymnastics skills (RR 4). Respondent signed a G-28 form representing Cindy Anderson, the owner of Dreamworks Gymnastics Studio (RR 4). Thereafter, the claim was rejected, according to the testimony of Mr. Ziya and Ms. Ulershperger (RR 4).

The Referee found that Mr. Ziya and Ms. Ulershperger were not notified of the status of their claim or the lapse of their lawful status (RR 4). As a result, Respondent's actions substantially injured and affected them (RR 4). There was no follow through by Respondent (RR 4). There were no telephone calls, no letters to INS, and no time records to support telephone calls made on behalf of his clients (RR 4). Mr. Ziya and Ms. Ulershperger were Respondent's clients and he was personally and professionally responsible for representing them (RR 4). The evidence demonstrated that while an extension of status was completed, nothing else was done resulting in the expiration of Mr. Ziya's and Ms. Ulershperger's lawful status in May of 2001 (RR 4). The Referee found that no letters were sent to Mr. Ziya and Ms. Ulershperger informing them of the status of their case (RR 5). They did not know of their unlawful status until March or April of 2002, when they obtained their file from Ms. Akbas (RR 5).

The Referee found that Respondent violated a number of disciplinary rules (RR 5).

U.S. Entry, Inc. used checks to pay Respondent for his work (RR 5). Instead of Respondent employing and supervising Ms. Akbas, it was the other way around (RR 5).

Ms. Akbas was the employer and she used Respondent's license to practice law, or obtained his signature, in order to practice law (RR 5). That evidentiary finding was

absolutely clear and there was no contradictory evidence (RR 5). The checks support the fact there were consultation and management fees paid to Respondent (RR 5). The payments are not even broken down by case or client names (RR 5).

The Referee further found it compelling that Respondent did not meet with Mr. Ziya and Ms. Ulershperger (RR 5). Respondent had no client file, whether dictated or hand-written, and there was no basis to dispute the attorney-client relationship because there is no lawyer file (RR 5). Nothing was presented to the Referee and he found it telling (RR 5).

The Referee made a clear finding that Mr. Ziya and Ms. Ulershperger went to U.S. Entry, Inc. to obtain legal entry into the United States (RR 5). After Respondent found out about their difficulties, he did nothing to help his clients and was only concerned with how the situation affected him (RR 5). Respondent allowed Ms. Akbas to have the benefit of his name as Managing Attorney (RR 5). The Referee found that Respondent's conduct involved fraud, dishonesty, and misrepresentation (RR 5-6). The court rejected Respondent's statement that he only found out about his name being on the U.S. Entry, Inc., letterhead after the Bar notified him (RR 6).

Respondent did not make reasonable efforts to ensure that Ms. Akbas' conduct was compatible with that of a lawyer and made no efforts to ensure that her actions were compatible with the professional obligations of the lawyer in accordance with Rule 4-5.3(b) (RR 6). Respondent also failed to supervise Akbas and he was ultimately responsible for her conduct (RR 6). Respondent's gross negligence regarding the

representation of the couple is clear when reading the transcript of the telephonic deposition taken on November 29, 2004, of Ms. Elisa Brasil, a California attorney who restricts her work solely to immigration matters (RR 6). Page 8 of the deposition transcript reads as follows:

"Well, the initial intake is really the most important step in the whole process when the client comes in, because it is where you do all the issue spotting to try to determine what kind of claim, if any, the client will have, immigration claim, to determine their eligibility for any of the different number of defenses they will have, either affirmative or in court, and it is so important that only an attorney can do it. It is going to be the basis of the entire claim, and it is where you rule out what the client is eligible for and is not eligible for. So if you miss something, then you could potentially miss a deadline, which would be disastrous for the client. That is why only the attorneys will do it in the office." (RR 6)

In this case, Respondent took no part in the interview. Therefore, he did not have any notes (Ms. Akbas did not take any notes during the interview), and had no information about the status of his clients (RR 7).

Ms. Brasil's deposition goes on to talk about an employment claim versus an asylum claim and status:

"But to file for asylum, it has to be within one year of last entering the United States. If I could just – the reason asylum is important, withholding of removal and restriction of removal are – the standard of proof is higher, and it is much more difficult to win a claim than it is to win an asylum claim, where this standard of proof is a little bit lower. So it is always best to apply for asylum if you are able to than rely on the other form of relief.

What happened when I got this case is obviously Mr. Abdullah and Ms. Ulershperger had been in the United States since November 4, 1999, and it was April of 2002. What is clear from examining the file and conversations with them is that when they had gone to U.S. Entry that

Abdullah had said that he had been persecuted in Turkey.

And because there was absolutely no follow-up to that, no consultation, no questions about what type of harm, who had harmed him, when had it happened, that that had been a very vital part of his possible asylum claim that had been missed." (RR 7)

Mr. Ziya and Ms. Ulershperger were in this country since November 1999 (RR 7). The statute of limitations had long since run and a lawyer practicing immigration law knew or should have known this. Ms. Brasil's deposition transcript on Page 38 goes on to read:

"Because during the initial consultation Abdullah had actually said that he had been persecuted in Turkey. There was no action taken on that. He was actually told that that wouldn't work. The person who conducted the initial interview in my opinion should not have been a paralegal.

But regardless, the paralegal should have been trained or should have known to ask more questions about asylum, specifically because of the one year rule of filing asylum, if you miss that claim and you don't file it, then the person could be statutorily barred from ever receiving a grant of asylum." (RR 7-8)

Mr. Ziya and Ms. Ulershperger were fortunate, and lucky, to find Mr. Capeci and Ms. Brasil to represent them (RR 8). The benefits of their good work should not inure to Respondent (RR 8). These were people who needed help (RR 8).

This husband and wife were horribly taken in and they were very vulnerable. They came to Miami because it was the destination on their airline tickets (RR 8). They had no friends or family in South Florida (RR 8). They went to Ms. Akbas for assistance and Respondent allowed Ms. Akbas to hold herself out as knowledgeable in the area of immigration law (RR 8).

At the final hearing, the Referee found Respondent's conduct violated the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. The Referee made detailed and extensive findings at the final hearing, which are contained in the transcript. In addition, he assessed costs against Respondent and ordered him to pay restitution to Mr. Ziya and Ms. Ulershperger in the amount of \$2,400.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Respondent in this case assisted Suzanne Akbas, a nonlawyer, in committing the unlicensed practice of law by allowing U.S. Entry, Inc. to use his name on their letterhead, signing legal documents prepared by Ms. Akbas without meeting with the clients, and by hanging his diploma in their offices. The Referee found Respondent knew that U.S. Entry, Inc. was using his name on their letterhead as the Managing Attorney. The conduct was dishonest because Respondent knew he was not supervising Ms. Akbas. Respondent could not and did not properly supervise the nonlawyer as he only visited the office once or twice a month. The visits consisted of signing immigration documents prepared by Ms. Akbas, with no input from him, and receipt of payment for his services to her. Furthermore, Respondent never met nor communicated with the clients he obtained through U.S. Entry, Inc. In fact, the clients discovered Respondent was the attorney of record only after they obtained a copy of their file from Ms. Akbas. Since Respondent never met with his clients and Ms. Akbas did not take notes at the initial interview, he could not thoroughly and properly prepare a legal analysis, a critical component of competent representation. After the clients inquired about the status of their immigration matter and discovered there were problems, Respondent failed to take any meaningful or significant action on behalf of his clients. Respondent's clients were forced to hire new counsel in order to obtain legal status in the United States.

This Court has held that a bar disciplinary action must serve three purposes: the judgment must be fair to society, it must be fair to the attorney, and it must sufficiently

deter other attorneys from similar misconduct. Furthermore, the discipline must have a reasonable basis in existing case law or The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. The recommendation by the Referee in this case adheres to the purposes of lawyer discipline because it is fair to society, fair to Respondent, and it would deter attorneys from engaging in similar conduct. Moreover, existing case law dictates that an attorney who assists a nonlawyer in committing the unlicensed practice of law, and fails to supervise the nonlawyer adequately, receive a suspension. Respondent in this case also violated R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-8.4(c), which on its own calls for a rehabilitative suspension. Given Respondent's conduct, the discipline given in similar cases, and The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, the Referee in this case properly recommended a 1-year rehabilitative suspension.

The Referee in his Report of Referee also assessed costs against Respondent and ordered Respondent to pay restitution to his clients. The Referee in a disciplinary case can assess costs against a respondent as long as he does not abuse his discretion. The Referee in this case did not abuse his discretion. In addition, this Court has held that a referee can order a respondent to pay restitution even if the fees were paid to a nonlawyer and not the attorney, if the attorney was responsible for the conduct of the nonlawyer. The Referee in this case found that Respondent was responsible for Ms. Akbas' conduct and properly recommended Respondent pay restitution in the amount of \$2,400.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE REFEREE DID NOT ERR IN FINDING RESPONDENT GUILTY OF VIOLATING R. REGULATING FLA. BAR 4-8.4(C) AND R. REGULATING FLA. BAR 4-1.1.

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